RECEIVED

Sep 14 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Certiorari to Georgetown County

Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge

DENNIS CUMBEE, JR.

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000966

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the PCR court erred in denying relief, where deficient performance was found following a plea where Petitioner was misadvised about the percentage of time he would have to serve for a murder charge, where testimony from Petitioner and his two attorneys confirmed that a written letter sent by plea counsel to Petitioner advised him that he would only have to serve eighty-five percent of his sentence and established it was the opinion of all involved that Petitioner would not have to serve his sentence day-for-day, and where Petitioner proved prejudice by testifying that he relied on the advice and would have acted differently but for the erroneous information provided by his attorneys?

2. Whether the PCR court erred in denying relief, where the court reasoned that the plea judge's colloquy cured any misunderstanding as to Issue I, where plea counsel therefore should have realized he provided incorrect advice, and where counsel failed to act or move to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea?

STATEMENT

In May of 2015, the Georgetown County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Dennis Cumbee, Jr., for murder, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. indictments #2015-GS-22—00427, 00428¹. (App. pp. 130 – 133). On December 12, 2016, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson and pled guilty to murder. John M. Hilliard, III, represented Petitioner at the plea. Richard D. Todd, Jr. appeared on behalf of the State. Pursuant to negotiations with the State, Judge Culbertson sentenced Petitioner to thirty-five (35) years in prison. Petitioner did not appeal his sentence or conviction.

On December 11, 2017, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief [PCR]. (App. 19 – 24). The State filed a return on February 9, 2018. (App. 28 – 35). On February 27, 2019, PCR counsel, Tricia Blanchette, filed an amended application. (App. pp. 25-27). On March 25, 2019, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. (App. pp 36-90). Tricia Blanchette represented Petitioner, and Johnny James, Jr. appeared on behalf of the State. On February 14, 2020, Judge Seals, in a written order, denied relief and dismissed the application. (App. pp. 117-129). On February 4, 2020, PCR counsel filed a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(a) and (e). (App. pp. 100 – 109). The State filed a return on March 23, 2020. (App. pp. 110 – 113). Judge Seals denied the motion to alter or amend in a written order signed May 29, 2020. (App. pp. 114-116). A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on July 3, 2020.

The petition for writ of certiorari was filed with the South Carolina Supreme Court on February 22, 2021. The return was filed on June 14, 2021. On July 26, 2021, pursuant to Rule 243(1), SCACR, the South Carolina Supreme Court transferred the case to the South Carolina

¹ It is unclear who testified before the Grand Jury and the indictment lists the witnesses as the Georgetown Police Department.

Court of Appeals. On September 19, 2022, the South Carolina Court of Appeals granted the petition for writ of certiorari and ordered briefing as provided by Rule 243(j), SCACR. This brief of petitioner follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (citing Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). We review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts. Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (citing Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)).” Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180–81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018).

ARGUMENTS

1. **The PCR court erred in denying relief, where deficient performance was found following a plea where Petitioner was misadvised about the percentage of time he would have to serve for a murder charge, where testimony from Petitioner and his two attorneys confirmed that a written letter sent by plea counsel to Petitioner advised him that he would only have to serve eighty-five percent of his sentence and established it was the opinion of all involved that Petitioner would not have to serve his sentence day-for-day, and where Petitioner proved prejudice by testifying that he relied on the advice and would have acted differently but for the erroneous information provided by his attorneys?**

Petitioner pled guilty to murder for a negotiated thirty-five year sentence. Petitioner had no prior criminal record. (App. p. 16, lines 20-23). Prior to the guilty plea Petitioner was incorrectly advised, verbally and via written correspondence, by both of his lawyers, that he would only have to serve eighty-five percent of his sentence. (App. p. 62 lines 8 – 15). S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20, the statute addressing punishment for murder, clearly provides, **“No person sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment for thirty years to life pursuant to this section is eligible for parole or any early release program,** nor is the person eligible to receive any work credits, education credits, good conduct credits, or any other credits that would reduce the mandatory minimum term of imprisonment for thirty years to life required by this section.” (emphasis added).

When Petitioner was transferred to the South Carolina Department of Corrections, he discovered that he would have to serve the entirety of his sentence, a different understanding than had been presented by counsel. (App. p. 68 line 13 – p. 69 lines 1- 15). After realizing that he was misadvised, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief. The PCR judge found deficient performance based on the erroneous advice given by the attorneys with regard to amount of time to be served on the sentence for murder. The PCR judge, however, found no

resulting prejudice. The PCR judge erred in refusing to find prejudice from the deficient performance.

Deficient Performance

The PCR judge correctly found that, “Applicant’s Counsels affirmatively misadvised him regarding the potential for parole or other early release, and such affirmative misadvice constituted deficient performance under Strickland and Hill.” (App. pp. 122-123). The PCR judge erred in refusing to find prejudice resulting from the deficient performance. There is a reasonable probability that, but for counsels’ deficient performance, Petitioner would not have pled guilty and instead would have insisted on going to trial.

Petitioner was given incorrect sentencing advice by both of his lawyers. Cezar McKnight was Petitioner’s first attorney. McKnight was retained by Petitioner’s parents. (App. p. 41 lines 22 – p. 42 lines 1-10). Counsel McKnight received a written plea offer from the State that was entered as Applicant’s exhibit #1 at the PCR hearing. (App. p. 43, lines 17-18; p. 91). Approximately two months after receiving the offer, Counsel McKnight wrote Petitioner a letter in reference to the plea offer by the State. (App. 91 – 92. The letter contained the following admittedly incorrect information about Petitioner’s sentence:

Enclosed within, please find a copy of the offer made by the Solicitor’s Office in your case. They are offering you a Guilty Plea to the charge of murder, and they are offering you a sentence of 35 years. Murder is a most serious offense and it is a violent offense for the purposes of sentencing. **This means that you have to do a mandatory 85% of the sentence**, and that if you are convicted of 2 most serious offenses like murder during your life, you could face life in prison without probation or parole.

App. 92 (emphasis added). When asked on cross-examination if his in-person advice mirrored the information contained in the letter, Counsel McKnight testified, “. . . I’m almost certain that

I probably told him it was 85 percent that he'd have to do.” (App. p. 46, lines 10-11). Counsel McKnight testified that he did not recall advising Petitioner that he would serve anything other than eighty-five percent, and he admitted that was error on his part. (App. p. 46, lines 14-20).

Shortly after Counsel McKnight sent the letter about the plea offer, he was relieved and attorney John Hilliard assumed the representation. (App. p. 45 lines 10-14). Counsel Hilliard gave Petitioner the same incorrect sentencing advice as given by Counsel McKnight. Hilliard testified:

I believed, and I told [Petitioner], that it was an 85 percent no parole offense. Experience had told me that there are no parole offenses, and this is a no parole offense. And I believed at the time that no parole offenses require the service of 85 percent. I believed that to be true at the time.

(App. p. 52 lines. 2 – 7). Hilliard admitted his mistake and testified, “You know, no parole is no parole, I get that part, but I believed at the time, and I was mistaken, but I believed at the time that 85 percent and day for day meant the same thing and they don't.” (App. p. 55, lines 3-6). The PCR judge correctly found deficient performance.

Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing and recalled receiving the letter from Counsel McKnight containing the incorrect information. (App. p. 61 lines 5 – 12). Petitioner believed, both as a result of receiving the letter and based on an in-person conversation with Counsel McKnight, that he would only be required to serve eighty-five percent of his sentence, or approximately twenty-nine years and seven months. (App. p. 62 lines 1 – 15).

Petitioner confirmed that Counsel Hilliard's advice matched what he had been told by Counsel McKnight, as previously testified to by both attorneys. (App. p. 64 lines 1 – 25). Petitioner had a detailed recollection of the conversations he had with Counsel Hilliard, including a memory of counsel using his calculator to determine eighty-five percent of thirty-five years, or 29.75 years. (App. p. 65 lines 1 – 16).

Petitioner testified that the advice he received regarding only being required to serve eighty-five percent of his sentence was a deciding factor in his decision to plead guilty. (App. p.65 lines 1 – 16; App. p. 70 lines 3 – 7). Additional conversations took place between Petitioner, his family, and Counsel Hilliard on the morning of the plea and the same erroneous advice was given. (App. p. 66 lines 8 – 21).

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052). First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “Under this prong, ‘[t]he measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.’” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel's performance in such a manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id.

The Strickland test operates similarly when an applicant claims counsel was ineffective in the context of a guilty plea. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985). “Defendants have a Sixth Amendment right to counsel, a right that extends to the plea-bargaining process.” Lafler v. Cooper, 132 S.Ct. 1376, 1384 (2012). “Before deciding whether to

plead guilty, a defendant is entitled to the effective assistance of competent counsel.” Padilla v. Kentucky, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 1480-81 (2010) (internal quotations omitted). The Supreme Court has “never applied a distinction between direct and collateral consequences to define the scope of constitutionally ‘reasonable professional assistance’ required under Strickland.” Id. at 1481 (quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984)).

A guilty plea may not be accepted unless it is voluntarily and understandingly made. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). “To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish the defendant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him.” Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 33, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000). “A defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of the constitutional rights which accompany a guilty plea ‘may be accomplished by colloquy between the Court and the defendant, between the Court and defendant's counsel, or both.’ ” Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 625 (1999) (quoting State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993)). “The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is ‘whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.’ ” Hill, 474 U.S. at 56, 106 S.Ct. 366 (quoting North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 31, 91 S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970)).

South Carolina courts have found deficient performance where attorneys provided erroneous advice that induced a guilty plea. In Hinson v. State, 297 S.C. 456, 377 S.E.2d 338 (1989), the defendant’s trial attorney told him he would be eligible for parole after serving a ten year sentence for “common law” murder when, in reality, defendant would have to serve twenty years. Id. at 457-58, 377 S.E.2d at 339. The Court found such advice deficient and reversed the PCR court. Id.; see also Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 402 S.E.2d 484 (1991) (reversing guilty plea on PCR

where attorney misadvised defendant on maximum exposure at sentencing). As was the case here, the Court in Hinson held that “[c]ounsel’s advice ... misstated the law.” Id. at 458, 377 S.E.2d at 339.

The guilty plea in the present case did not represent a voluntary and intelligent choice for Petitioner when two separate lawyers provided him with erroneous advice about the sentence. The PCR judge correctly found deficient performance. As discussed below, Petitioner demonstrated prejudice resulting from the deficient performance.

Prejudice

While the PCR judge correctly found deficient performance in counsels’ advice that Petitioner would only have to serve eighty-five percent of his sentence for murder, the PCR judge erred in refusing to find that the ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process. In Frierson v. State, 423 S.C. 257, 262, 815 S.E.2d 433, 436 (2018), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

In order to establish prejudice when challenging a guilty plea, a defendant must prove “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have gone to trial.” Harden v. State, 360 S.C. 405, 408, 602 S.E.2d 48, 49 (2004). The crux of the inquiry is whether counsel’s ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process, not whether the defendant would have been successful had he gone to trial. Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 542, 402 S.E.2d 484, 485 (1991). As the United States Supreme Court stated in Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985), “[I]n order to satisfy the ‘prejudice’ requirement, the defendant must show there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.”

In the present case there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, Petitioner would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote:

The Court finds Applicant has failed to meet his burden of showing that but for Counsels' advice he would not have pled guilty but would have proceeded to trial. First, the plea court's statements that Applicant was not eligible for parole and would have to serve the entire thirty-five year sentence could scarcely be clearer." Applicant expressed no confusion during the plea proceeding, and communicated no concerns on the record to the plea court. The plea court's colloquy cured any misapprehension, and Applicant knew that he was going to serve the entirety of the negotiated thirty-five year sentence, and he proceeded with pleading guilty anyway.

(App. p. 124). The PCR judge erred. Petitioner met his burden of showing a reasonable probability that, but for counsels' deficient performance, Petitioner would not have pled guilty and instead would have insisted on going to trial.

The colloquy with the plea judge did not cure the error. In Robinson v. State, 422 S.C. 78, 88, 810 S.E.2d 32, 38 (2018), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

For a plea hearing to cure deficient advice, the plea hearing must unambiguously address and resolve the incorrect advice—namely, that the Constitution forbade the State from proceeding to trial under the amended sentencing scheme. *See United States v. Akinsade*, 686 F.3d 248, 255 (4th Cir. 2012) (recognizing, "in order for a district court's admonishment to be curative, it should address the particular issue underlying the affirmative misadvice"). That did not occur here.

The colloquy at the plea hearing that discussed no parole and the thirty-five year sentence did not unambiguously address the advice Petitioner and his family received from two different lawyers that he would only have to serve eighty-five percent of his thirty-five year sentence for murder. The order of dismissal stating that there was no confusion during the plea ignores Petitioner's testimony at the PCR hearing that he looked to his lawyer during the plea because he was confused by the statements made by the judge about sentencing. The plea judge asked Petitioner, "You understand that for this crime you would not be eligible for parole. So if I impose the 35- year sentence you're going to have to serve the 35-year sentence. Do you understand that?" (App. p. 8, lines 12-15). When asked about the comment from the plea judge

Petitioner testified, “After – during the time after he said it, I stopped and looked at Hilliard and he shook his head yes. When we got – after the plea deal, I asked Mr. Hilliard in the back if – what did he mean by that? And Mr. Hilliard told me that he had to say that in case the laws change.” (App. p. 67, lines 10-20).

The plea court’s colloquy did not speak specifically to the day-for-day requirement and therefore did not cure counsel’s deficient performance. “[E]ven where counsel offers misinformation, this deficiency can be cured where the trial court properly informs the defendant about the sentencing range.” Bennett v. State, 371 S.C. 198, 205 n. 6, 638 S.E.2d 673, 676 n. 6 (2006). In Bennett, this Court reversed the PCR court’s grant of relief based upon a finding that “[b]oth the plea transcript and [Bennett’s] testimony at the PCR hearing clearly indicate that counsel did consult with respondent and advised him that he should enter a guilty plea.” Id. at 204-05, 638 S.E.2d 673, 676. This Court held that counsel’s advice regarding sentencing was “not technically incorrect.” Id. Because there was “no probative evidence in the record that counsel deficiently advised respondent to plead guilty,” this Court reversed the grant of a new trial. Id. at 206, 638 S.E.2d at 677. Petitioner’s case contained evidence from four witnesses in addition to written correspondence which was enough for the PCR court to find deficient performance. Notably, the letter from Counsel McKnight does not clarify the avenue by which Petitioner would be released after the service of eighty-five percent of his sentence. (App. p. 92). The letter does not reference parole, education/work credits, or any other early release mechanism. Therefore, the plea judge’s remarks regarding murder being a no-parole offense did not cause any concern for Petitioner.

The plea judge’s colloquy did not directly reference serving the *entire* sentence or contain a clear statement that Petitioner would be required to serve one hundred percent of the sentence,

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