RECEIVED

Feb 28 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Georgetown County
The Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2020-000966

DENNIS CUMBEE, JR.,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER
S.C. Bar No. 104213
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3747

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276
Conway, South Carolina 29526

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The PCR Court properly found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving his attorneys were ineffective in misadvising him about parole eligibility because he failed to prove he was prejudiced by the advice, since evidence shows that Petitioner had other motivations beyond parole eligibility for entering his guilty plea, and because the plea colloquy cured the inaccurate advice.**

Petitioner contends the PCR court erred in denying relief, where deficient performance was found following a plea where Petitioner was misadvised about the percentage of time he would have to serve for a murder charge. Specifically, Petitioner argues that because there was testimony from Petitioner and his two attorneys that confirmed a written letter was sent by plea counsel to Petitioner advising him that he would only have to serve eighty-five percent of his sentence and that it was the opinion of all involved that Petitioner would not have to serve his sentence day for day. Further Petitioner argues that he proved prejudice by testifying that he relied on that advice and would have acted differently but for the erroneous information provided by his attorneys.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee Applicant, like all other defendants, the right to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984); *Taylor v. State*, 404 S.C. 350, 359, 745 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2013). Ordinarily, PCR allegations are centered upon an allegation that the applicant did not receive effective assistance of counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. See generally S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(A) (enumerating allegations cognizable in PCR actions). The allegation of denial of such representation sets forth a prima facie violation of this constitutional right and raises a question of fact that can only be determined by an evidentiary hearing. *Rogers v. State*, 261 S.C. 288, 291, 199 S.E.2d 761, 762 (1973).

In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations by a preponderance of the evidence—a mere allegation of ineffective assistance is not sufficient

to warrant granting relief. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The reviewing court applies the two-part test outlined in *Strickland* to determine whether counsel’s conduct “was so ineffective as to require reversal” of the applicant’s conviction or sentence. 466 U.S. at 687. First, the applicant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient; and second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant. *Id.* at 668; *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

The first prong—constitutional deficiency—is “necessarily linked to the practice and expectations of the legal community.” *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 366 (2010). In order to prove deficient performance, the applicant must show counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

The second, or “prejudice,” prong of *Strickland* is rooted in the very purpose of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of counsel—to ensure a defendant has the assistance necessary to justify reliance on the outcome of the proceeding. *Id.* at 691-92. In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must demonstrate counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability “sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. Thus, it is not enough “to show the errors had some conceivable effect” on the outcome of the proceeding—counsel’s errors must be “so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial.” *Id.* at 687.

The performance and prejudice standards, however, “do not establish mechanical rules; [t]he ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged.” *Id.* at 696. Moreover, “there is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one.” *Id.* at 697. The court “need not determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies.” *Id.* If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, the court may evaluate the prejudice prong only. *Id.*

With respect to guilty plea counsel, Applicant must show there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s alleged errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52 (1985). The “prejudice prong ordinarily requires more than simply a defendant’s assertion that but for counsel’s deficient performance he would not have pled but would have gone to trial.” *Stalk v. State*, 383 S.C. 559, 563, 681 S.E.2d 592, 595 (2009). “A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual; thus, a criminal inmate’s right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed.” *Dalton v. State*, 376 S.C. 130, 137, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Blackledge v. Allison*, 431 U.S. 63, 74 (1977)). “Indeed, where a thorough colloquy is conducted, courts must exercise caution in setting aside the guilty plea.” *Garren v. State*, 423 S.C. 1, 12, 813 S.E.2d 704, 712 (2018); see *Jamison v. State*, 410 S.C. 456, 469-71, 765 S.E.2d 123, 129-30 (2014) (observing that “guilty plea[s] must be treated as final in the vast majority of cases” and instructing that caution must be exercised so as not to “undermine the solemn nature of a guilty plea and the finality that generally attaches to a guilty plea”).

Petitioner relies upon *Hinson v. State*, 297 S.C. 456, 377 S.E.2d 338 (1989) for the proposition that a plea induced by erroneous advice regarding parole eligibility is sufficient to show prejudice under the *Strickland* standard. That case was one in which a criminal defendant was found to be prejudiced by uncontroverted evidence that his plea was induced by erroneous advice regarding parole eligibility. *Id.* 297 S.C. at 458, 377 S.E.2d at 339. The defendant's assertion that erroneous advice induced his plea was supported by the unrefuted testimony of a co-defendant's attorney. *Id.* The Court stated that "[o]rdinarily, a defendant's testimony, several years after a guilty plea, that his plea was induced by erroneous advice of counsel is not persuasive." *Id.* Accordingly, this Court has clarified that there is no error where there is no "evidence that a defendant's plea was induced such that, *but for the erroneous advice*, the defendant would not have pled guilty but would have insisted on going to trial." *Roscoe v. State*, 345 S.C. 16, 546 S.E.2d 417 (2001) (emphasis added). To obtain relief on claims that a plea was allegedly induced by misadvice, a petitioner must convince the court that a decision to reject the plea bargain would have been rational under the circumstances. *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 372 (2010).

Petitioner argues that the PCR court errantly focused on his statements that he was concerned about how much time his counsel had to prepare for trial, as that statement was made in regards to another claim for relief. However, this is directly refuted by Petitioner's own words at the hearing. The following exchange occurred at the evidentiary hearing on cross-examination:

Q: Isn't it true that you told the Court that you were pleading guilty because you were guilty of the crime?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: All right. And was that true, you were pleading guilty because you were guilty of the crime?

A: I actually was pleading guilty because my lawyer was actually – he actually said in the trial, as you will see in the transcript, that he didn't have enough

time to properly prepare for the case and being that that was better, he felt like if we would have went to trial it would have been a life sentence. And being that he said he wasn't ready, the Judge was willing to give him I think a month to work on the case and I didn't think that was enough time to gamble with a life sentence.

Q: So, you didn't plead guilty over the 85 percent confusion, you plead guilty because you didn't think your lawyer had enough time?

A: No, sir. Well, during – I took the plea after that but the 85 percent – I took the 85 percent after that, that's what I was advised. I plead guilty because he didn't – no, sir. I didn't think he had enough time to properly work on the case.

(App. 72, 17 – App. 73, 13).

This statement is consistent with Petitioner's claims in his initial PCR application. Petitioner's only claims in his original, *pro se* application were that his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights were violated because his attorney did not have enough time to prepare for his trial. However, at the PCR hearing he stated that he filed the application because he found out the truth about his parole eligibility when he arrived at the prison and spoke with a counselor. Why, then, did he not raise the parole issue in the application? The reality is that Petitioner's decision to enter a guilty plea was made independently of any advice regarding parole eligibility. Petitioner admitted that he lied during his plea hearing, and the PCR court properly viewed his testimony with skepticism and found that his testimony was self-serving and lacked credibility. His story is refuted by his own pleadings.

Furthermore, Attorney Hilliard testified that he was retained for the express purpose of negotiating a friendlier plea agreement. Petitioner and his parents hired him after becoming unsatisfied with Attorney McKnight's plea negotiations and wanted Hilliard to try to obtain a more favorable deal. Clearly Petitioner intended to enter a guilty plea from the outset, irrespective of what he was told about parole eligibility.

Finally, reason dictates that Petitioner's story that he admitted guilt because he thought he would be eligible for parole must be viewed skeptically given the underlying facts of the case. Several witnesses saw him shoot an unarmed man in the back multiple times, then pursue him down an alleyway, before a final, fatal shot was heard. The PCR court found that fifteen to twenty people were present at the scene and numerous witnesses identified him as both the aggressor and the shooter. The evidence against him was so damning that his counsel did not see any way to take the case to trial. Petitioner himself confirmed these facts at the PCR hearing, only quibbling over whether he executed a man at a "grilling" or a "birthday party." The notion that he would have proceeded to trial on these facts but for errant advice about parole eligibility is refuted by both the record and by common sense.

Petitioner's assertion that the State "never disproved Petitioner's contention that he pled guilty based on the advice of counsel" is misguided. Petitioner bears the burden of proving his claims. The State need not disprove his allegations when he has not proven them in the first instance. Simply put, Petitioner has not made a showing that his plea was induced *but for* the erroneous advice he was given. As such, evidence exists to support the PCR court's findings that petitioner did not suffer prejudice from his counsels' performance. Therefore, this Court should deny certiorari.

- A. The PCR court properly found that the plea court's colloquy cured any confusion Petitioner may have had from his plea counsels' erroneous advice because it directly addressed parole eligibility and properly informed him that he would not be eligible.**

Petitioner relies heavily on the fact that the PCR court found his plea counsels' performance to be deficient, in the hopes that some of that deficiency will transform itself into prejudice. This cannot be the case, as the PCR court's finding that the plea court's colloquy cured any confusion Petitioner may have had is clearly supported by the record and the law.

A proper guilty plea colloquy may serve to cure the deficiency of plea counsel. *Robinson v. State*, 422 S.C. 78, 88, 810 S.E.2d 32, 37-38 (2018). Brief or inaccurate statements by the court will not suffice; the plea hearing must unambiguously address and resolve the incorrect advice. *Id.*

The court and Petitioner had the following exchange during the plea hearing:

The Court: You understand that for this crime you would not be eligible for parole. So if I impose the 35-year sentence you're going to have to serve the 35-year sentence. Do you understand that?

Petitioner: Yes, sir.

(App. 106).

The question is abundantly clear. Nevertheless, Petitioner argues that because this exchange apparently did not trigger his plea counsel to realize his misunderstanding of the law governing parole eligibility, it is therefore unreasonable for Petitioner, a layman in the law, to be expected to express concerns because of this exchange. Of course, his plea counsel was not alerted by the plea court's colloquy, because his plea counsel did not understand the law. Plea counsel was deficient. But this deficiency, standing alone, is not enough to entitle Petitioner to post-conviction relief.

Importantly, Petitioner claims that the court's colloquy *did* set off alarms in his head, yet he remained silent. He says that he looked at his counsel for clarification, and his counsel nodded. He never vocalized his confusion to his plea counsel or the court. Instead, he told the judge he understood and wished to enter his guilty plea. According to Petitioner, he only raised his concerns *after* the plea hearing, after the opportunity for moving to withdraw the plea had passed. Plea counsel stated that he did not recall any such conversation occurring.

Clear evidence shows that the plea court directly addressed the issue of parole eligibility and correctly informed Petitioner that he would not be eligible. Petitioner realized this was

different than the advice his counsel had given him, yet nevertheless he told the court he understood the terms of the sentence and chose to continue forward with his guilty plea. Therefore, the plea colloquy cured counsel's deficient performance by properly informing him of the parole eligibility of his conviction. Whatever Petitioner's motivation for entering the guilty plea may have been, the decision was made with the knowledge that he would not be eligible for parole. As such, the PCR court properly found that his testimony was self-serving and inconsistent.

Petitioner has the burden of proving counsel's alleged deficiency effected the outcome of the proceeding, and Petitioner has failed to meet his burden. The PCR court properly denied relief because Petitioner failed to show prejudice.

II. The PCR court properly found that Petitioner's plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to move to withdraw the guilty plea because Petitioner never indicated to that he wanted to withdraw the plea, and there is no reasonable probability that such a motion would have been granted.

Petitioner argues that the PCR court's reasoning in denying relief was contradictory, because if the colloquy would have alerted Petitioner to the fact that his counsel provided errant advice, it would have equally alerted his plea counsel, thereby requiring that he move to withdraw the plea.

Withdrawal of a guilty plea is generally within the sound discretion of the trial court. *State v. Riddle*, 278 S.C. 148, 292 S.E.2d 795 (1982). A criminal defendant's failure to assert his innocence militates against withdrawal. *U.S. v. Craig*, 985 F.2d 175, 179 (1993). Plea counsel may be ineffective for failing to move to withdraw a plea when a criminal defendant makes it apparent, or when counsel comes to believe, that he does not want to continue with the plea and instead wishes to proceed to trial. *See e.g. Rolan v. State*, 384 S.C. 409, 683 S.E.2d 471 (2009) (finding that counsel was ineffective for failing to move to withdraw a plea when the defendant requested a jury trial and repeatedly asserted his innocence during the plea hearing); *Thompson v. State*, 340

S.C. 112, 531 S.E.2d 294 (2000) (finding counsel ineffective for failing to move to withdraw a plea after the state reneged on its plea agreement).

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